



TETRAHEDRON

Tetrahedron 59 (2003) 7-36

Tetrahedron report number 626

Modern methods for the synthesis of substituted naphthalenes

Charles B. de Koning,^{a,*} Amanda L. Rousseau^b and Willem A. L. van Otterlo^{a,*}

^aMolecular Sciences Institute, School of Chemistry, University of the Witwatersrand, PO Wits, 2050 Johannesburg, South Africa ^bCSIR, Bio/Chemtek, Speciality and Fine Chemicals Programme, Modderfontein, South Africa

Received 20 October 2002

Contents

1.	Introduction	7
2.	Diels-Alder reactions	9
	2.1. Diels-Alder addition of quinones to dienes	9
	2.2. Diels–Alder addition of <i>o</i> -quinodimethanes	10
	2.3. Diels–Alder addition of benzynes	11
3.	Phthalide annulations	12
4.	Transition metal-mediated cyclizations	13
	4.1. Chromium-assisted methods	13
	4.2. Manganese-mediated radical cyclization	14
	4.3. Palladium-catalysed cyclizations	15
	4.3.1. From arynes	15
	4.3.2. From vinylic iodides and triflates	15
	4.3.3. Miscellaneous annulations	16
	4.4. Transition metal-mediated electrocyclization	16
	4.5. Cobalt-mediated reactions	17
	4.6. Ruthenium-catalysed ring-closing metathesis	18
	4.7. Nickel-mediated cyclization	18
	4.8. Copper, zinc and tin mediated cyclization of zirconocene complexes	18
	4.9. Rhodium-mediated cyclization	19
5.	Rearrangement of strained rings	19
	5.1. Rearrangement of cyclobutenones	19
	5.2. Rearrangement of cyclopropanes	20
6.	Acid- and Lewis acid-catalysed intramolecular cyclizations	21
7.	Phosphorus ylides in the synthesis of naphthalenes	24
8.	Anionic ring annulations	25
9.	Photochemically-mediated reactions	28
10.	Thermal cyclization reactions	28
11.	Conclusion	31

1. Introduction

There are numerous examples of biologically active natural products that possess a naphthalene or naphthoquinone core.¹ Nanaomycin A **1**, for example, a member of the family of pyranonaphthoquinone antibiotics,² possesses a simple naphthoquinone backbone (Fig. 1). By contrast, the

rifamycin series of macrocyclic antibiotics is more complex in structure, and members of the series are characterised by a polyketide-derived aliphatic (or *ansa*) chain linked to nonadjacent positions on a naphthoquinone or naphthalene nucleus. Rifampicin **2** (Fig. 1), a semi-synthetic derivative of the naturally occurring rifamycin B, is both an antibacterial and an antiviral agent.^{3,4} It inhibits viral replication and bacterial RNA polymerase and is used extensively in the treatment of tuberculosis in Southern Africa and other areas of the world.

In 1886 racemic gossypol (see Fig. 2 for (S)-gossypol 3), a

Keywords: naphthalenes; Diels–Alder; phthalide annulation; transition metals; rearrangements; acid-catalysis; ylides; anionic; photochemical and thermal cyclisations.

^{*} Corresponding authors; e-mail: dekoning@aurum.chem.wits.ac.za; willem@aurum.chem.wits.ac.za



Figure 1.

natural toxin was isolated from cotton seeds, and its structure was elucidated some 50 years later.⁵ This polyphenolic compound comprises two identical naph-thalene units linked by a biaryl axis. Restricted rotation about this axis imparts chirality to the molecule. Pharma-cologically it is known to be an oral antifertility agent in men and male animals, and it shows potential for the treatment of HIV infections, diabetic complications and cancer. Of interest, though, are the observations that (*R*)-gossypol is more effective than its atropisomer (*S*)-gossypol **3** against tumour cells and HIV-1, while the opposite is true for activity against herpes simplex virus, influenza and parainfluenza virus.

The biaryl linkage appears to be an important feature governing the biological activity of many naturally occurring naphthalenes or naphthoquinones. Conocurvone **4** (Fig. 2), isolated from a shrub indigenous to Western Australia, is composed of three naphthoquinone units linked by biaryl axes.^{6,7} In contrast to gossypol, there is a low barrier to rotation about the biaryl bonds for this compound, and as a result a mixture of atropisomers exists in equilibrium. The interest in conocurvone is due to the exceptionally high anti-HIV activity exhibited by the



atropisomeric mixture in a variety of in vitro tests conducted by the US National Cancer Institute. This physiological property is dependent on the trimeric nature of the compound, as the anti-HIV activity exhibited by the trimer is completely absent for the naturally occurring monomer.

Other compounds possessing prominent naphthalene motifs are the biaryl naphthylisoquinoline alkaloids, depicted in Figure 3, which include the korupensamines⁸ (e.g. korupensamine A **5**), and their dimers, the michellamines^{9–13} (e.g. michellamine B **6**). The former have anti-malarial properties, and the latter exhibit potent anti-HIV activity.



Figure 3.

Apart from their interesting biological activity, biaryl naphthalene compounds also find application as chiral reagents.¹⁴ The first and most frequently used chiral phosphine ligand is BINAP 7. This is illustrated by the work of Noyori who has shown that ruthenium complexes of 7 are capable of effecting asymmetric hydrogenations^{15,16} and have even found industrial applications.¹⁷

The atropisomers of (1,1'-binaphthyl)-2,2'-diol **8** and its derivatives (Fig. 4) are widely used in asymmetric synthesis, either as ligands or as chiral auxiliaries.^{18–21} These binaphthols have demonstrated excellent chiral induction, both catalytically and stoichiometrically, in a remarkable number of organic transformations ranging from Diels–Alder cycloadditions to polymerisation reactions. For example, the binaphthol derivative **9** has been used as a chiral ligand in the copper-catalysed Michael addition of dialkylzinc reagents to cyclic α,β -unsaturated ketones.²²



Figure 4.

One of the more important contributions using binaphthols in organic synthesis has come from the group of Shibasaki.^{23–25} It has been shown that a number of characterised heterobimetallic asymmetric binaphthols such as **10** shown in Figure 5 are capable of catalysing a variety of reactions. For example, these types of catalysts



Figure 5.

have been used in asymmetric aldol reactions, epoxidation of enones and hydrophosphonylation of imines. Three reviews of this interesting area of research have been published recently.^{23–25}

Cram has shown the use of chiral binaphthyls as molecular hosts for the complexation of a number of organic and inorganic guest molecules.²⁶ Chiral recognition in complexation has also been achieved, as demonstrated by the use of enantiomerically pure host **11**, depicted in Figure 6, in the separation of a racemic mixture of amino acids by liquid–liquid extraction. Separation of the D and L-amino acids was achieved by selective complexation, brought about by complementarity between host and guest of the (*R*,*R*)-D-configurations, with lack of complementarity in those of the (*R*,*R*)-L-configuration. In addition to its use in liquid–liquid extractions, (*R*,*R*)-**11** has also been covalently bound to polymer resins for the preparation of chiral stationary phases for chromatography.¹⁹



Figure 6.

The preceding discussion has indicated the importance of naphthalenes and naphthoquinones as bioactive agents and in structural and synthetic chemistry. How the synthetic chemist gains access to such compounds forms the subject of this review. The synthesis of polysubstituted naphthalenes is often not simple by conventional electrophilic aromatic substitution owing to the important problem of regiochemical control. The current general de novo approaches to naphthalenes attempt to circumvent this problem, and include rearrangements and condensations in which the substitution pattern of the aromatic product is determined by the structure of the starting materials. This review, without attempting to be totally comprehensive, serves to illustrate the applications of these general methods and the variations thereof. We have also chosen to illustrate with representative examples mainly those methods that show the conversion of single ring benzene precursors into naphthalenes. Routes in which a pre-existing naphthalene core is modified are specifically excluded. Most of the material in this review covers the period from 1999 to the

end of 2001, although common traditional methods for the synthesis of substituted naphthalenes will also be mentioned. Where deemed appropriate, some extensions to polycyclic aromatic compounds will also be included. While there is no general review on the synthesis of naphthalenes and naphthols, there are reviews on some aspects of the material covered in this review, which will be mentioned in the appropriate sections. Some partially related reviews covering benzannulation reactions have also recently been published.^{27,28}

2. Diels-Alder reactions

The Diels–Alder cycloaddition reaction has been utilized extensively in the synthesis of substituted naphthalenes and naphthoquinones. Usually, the formation of more than one cycloadduct is possible for unsymmetrical dienes and dienophiles,²⁹ but in some cases there is a good degree of regiochemical control. The synthesis of complex precursors may be necessary to facilitate regioselectivity.

2.1. Diels-Alder addition of quinones to dienes

Almost 30 years ago, Brassard³⁰ and Danishefsky³¹ reported the use of various vinyl ketene acetals as useful dienes in Diels–Alder cycloaddition reactions, and this methodology still finds application today. Recently, Bringmann and coworkers have applied this methodology in their synthesis of the naphthalene portion of the michellamines (see Fig. 3), a naturally occurring class of anti-HIV compounds isolated from *Ancistrocladus korupensis*.³² As outlined in Scheme 1, treatment of benzoquinone **12** with diene **13** regioselectively afforded naphthoquinone **14** in 70% yield, after elimination of HBr and trimethlysilanol from the intermediate **15** in the presence of silica gel. Other dienes such as **16** have also been used in Diels–Alder reactions.³³



Scheme 1.

Suzuki and co-workers have utilized the Diels–Alder reaction and subsequent elimination steps in their synthesis of pradimicinone, an anthraquinone as outlined in Scheme 2.³⁴ This group made use of Brassard's diene **17** to achieve the desired substitution pattern of the product **18**. In both these examples, the regiochemistry is governed by the position of the halogen on the quinonoid starting materials **12** and **19**.

More recently so-called 'inner-outer-ring' dienes have





been used to make naphthalenes as shown in Scheme 3.^{35,36} Reaction of the readily prepared diene **20** with benzoquinone afforded the substituted naphthalene **21** in good yield, after protection as the triacetate.



Scheme 3.

2.2. Diels-Alder addition of o-quinodimethanes

Several reviews covering the use of *o*-quinodimethanes for the synthesis of aromatic compounds have been published.^{37–39} Variations of the Diels–Alder reaction include the addition of *o*-quinodimethanes to acetylenic dienophiles.³⁷ Benzocyclobutenes may also be used as precursors for *o*-quinodimethanes as shown in Scheme 4.⁴⁰ Benzocyclobutene **22** rearranged upon heating to give *o*-quinodimethane **23**. Reaction with the dienophile and subsequent elimination of methanol afforded the naphthalene product **24** in 82% yield. Frontier molecular orbital calculations may be used to predict the formation of the preferred regioisomer, although experimentally, mixtures of regioisomers may still be formed.^{41,42}



Scheme 4.

A recent application of *o*-quinodimethane methodology may be found in the synthesis of rishirilide B.⁴³ Model studies showed that the *o*-quinodimethane generated from **25**, on reaction with **26**, afforded the substituted naphthalene **27** after treatment with camphor-sulfonic acid (CSA) (Scheme 5). A methodological paper on the use of *o*-quinodimethanes for the synthesis of polycyclic compounds was published recently.⁴⁴





Hydroxy acetals such as **28**, precursors to transient isobenzofurans **29**, have been used to prepare naphthalenes **30** by trapping the isobenzofuran with acetylenes as shown in Scheme $6.^{45-47}$



R₁ = -CH₂-CH₂-, Ar = 3,4-methylenedioxyphenyl, R₂ = Et, 80%

Scheme 6.

During an investigation of the unstable benzo[*c*]tellurophene compounds **31** by Cava and co-workers, it was discovered that **31** reacted readily with *N*-methylmaleimide **32** to afford *N*-methylmapthalimides **33** in moderate yields.⁴⁸ The products **33** were probably formed by facile expulsion of hydrogen telluride from the Diels–Alder adduct **34** as illustrated in Scheme 7.



Scheme 7.

o-Quinodimethanes generated from brominated precursors **35** (also used by Silva and co-workers),⁴⁹ reacted with dienophiles such as **36** to afford naphthalenes **37**.⁵⁰ The transient *o*-quinodimethane formed by expulsion of sulfur dioxide from benzoxanthiin-3-oxides **38** upon heating reacted with semisquaric chloride **39** to give substituted naphthalenes **40**, in poor to acceptable yields, after aromatization (Scheme 8).⁵¹





An interesting example in this section describes the work of Ruzziconi and co-workers, who have used a novel electrophilic aromatic cyclization strategy to synthesize fluorinated naphthalenes 41.5^2 Oxidation of the readily prepared *O*-silylalkenes 42 with ceric(IV) ammonium nitrate in the presence of ethyl vinyl ether afforded the substituted naphthalenes in moderate to good yields presumably by way of intermediate 43 (Scheme 9).





Finally in this section, a reaction which may involve o-quinodimethanes as intermediates has been reported to take place on solid supports. Treatment of the resin-supported o-quinodimethane precursor **44** with dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate (DMAD) gave naphthalene **45** in an acceptable yield of 41% (Scheme 10), and unreacted starting material which was easily separated from the product.⁵³





2.3. Diels-Alder addition of benzynes

The addition of benzynes to furans has been reported quite extensively^{54,55} and only a few examples of this approach will be described. Some regiochemical control is possible

with this method, as shown in Scheme 11.^{56,57} In these cases, only one Diels-Alder adduct is formed, but unfortunately this is not always easy to predict.





In the cases shown in Scheme 11, the benzyne is generated from the corresponding *ortho*-substituted halogenated tosylate or triflate. However, the benzyne can also be generated from the corresponding dihalide,⁵⁸ monohalide, anthranilic acid, or even a trimethylsilyl iodonium triflate such as **46** by treatment with a fluoride source (Scheme 12).⁵⁹ The use of this method afforded compounds **47** and **48** in excellent yields.



Scheme 12.

Another example leading to the synthesis of a sterically hindered naphthalene **49** is described in Scheme 13. Treatment of cyclopentadienone **50** with the benzyne generated from tetraphenylanthranilic acid **51** gave **49** in 83% yield.⁶⁰ The synthesis of a related naphthalene has been reported by the same workers.⁶¹





The problems associated with predicting the regiochemical outcome of these reactions can be overcome by employing intramolecular Diels–Alder cycloaddition reactions, where the use of a more complex substrate ensures formation of the desired regioisomer. One of the first examples reported is shown in Scheme 14 in which the benzyne component of **52** was tethered to a substituted furan.⁶² The Diels–Alder adduct from this reaction, **53**, was obtained in 74% yield. Catalytic reduction and subsequent elimination of water gave the final aromatic product **54**. This principle was also recently applied in an interesting synthesis of azapolycyclic compounds.⁶³





The synthesis of fluorinated derivatives of BINOL **7** and related compounds for catalysis is an intensive area of research. The synthesis of the precursor naphthalenes **55** (Scheme 15) has been carried out from the benzyne **56** and 3-methoxythiophene **57** as the dienophile. Interestingly, extrusion of sulfur takes place in situ under very mild conditions, to give compound **55**.⁶⁴ Related work has also been reported in the literature.⁶⁵



Scheme 15.



Finally, exposure of 2,4-dibromoanisole **58** to lithium isopropyl cyclohexylamide (LICA) **59** and subsequent reaction with lithium enolate **60** gave a mixture of regioisomers **61** and **62**, indicating that only benzyne **63** was formed during the reaction (Scheme 16).⁶⁶

3. Phthalide annulations

In 1978, Hauser first described the annulation of Michael acceptors **64** with stabilised phthalide anions such as 3-phenylsulfonylphthalide **65** to afford naphthalene products **66** (Scheme 17).⁶⁷ The function of the phenylsulfonyl group is to stabilise the α -carbanion generated, and subsequently to act as a leaving group to allow aromatization following annulation. A similar reaction using the anion of 3-cyanophthalide was developed simultaneously by Kraus.⁶⁸



Scheme 17.

Since its discovery, this reaction has been applied to the synthesis of many natural products, as it provides a convergent route to naphthalenes and naphthoquinones that is under strict regiocontrol.⁶⁹ The regiochemistry of the sole product is determined by choosing the appropriately substituted phthalide and Michael acceptor. An example of this is evident in the synthesis of (–)-hongconin by Swenton et al.,⁷⁰ who employed the phthalide annulation of cyanophthalide **67** with levoglucosenone **68**, a compound available in chiral form by pyrolysis of cellulose, to give the naphthyl product **69** in 74% yield (Scheme 18). Further elaboration of this product afforded (–)-hongconin. Several other examples employing pthalide annulations and modifications thereof, have been reported recently.^{71–74}



Recent work by Kita has extended this approach to other functionalised naphthalenes by employing the reaction of homophthalic anhydrides **70** with enolizable enones.^{75–79} This general strategy is described in Scheme 19. The initial reaction is thought to involve a [4+2] cycloaddition or Michael-type addition between homophthalic anhydride **70** and sulfinyl-substituted dienophiles **71**. Intermediate **72** underwent aromatization to afford the naphthalenes **73** in moderate to good yields.

A variation on the phthalide annulation involves taking advantage of the acidity of the benzylic protons on

71 i, NaH heat 72 70 Ŕ2 ii, -PhS(O)H, -CO₂, OAc O aromatisation and protonation R₄ R₃ iii, Ac₂O \dot{R}_2 73 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R_1} = \mathsf{H} \text{ or OBn; } \mathsf{R_2} = \mathsf{H}, \, \mathsf{SPh} \text{ or OMe;} \\ \mathsf{R_3}, \, \mathsf{R_4} = \mathsf{Ph} \text{ and } \mathsf{H} \text{ or -}\mathsf{CH_{2^-}, -}(\mathsf{CH_2})_{2^-}, \, \text{-}(\mathsf{CH_2})_{3^-}; \\ \mathsf{R_5} = \mathsf{H} \text{ or -}(\mathsf{CH_2})_2 X; \, (41\text{-}70\%) \end{array}$



substrates such as **74** (Scheme 20). Abstraction of one of these protons and addition of the anion to a Michael acceptor, followed by reaction of the resulting nucleophile **75** with the nitrile *ortho* to this substituent afforded a number of dihydroaminonaphthalenes which could be aromatized to the corresponding substituted aminonaphthalenes **76**.⁸⁰ Related work utilizing α , β -unsaturated nitriles has also been reported by Barsy⁸¹ and Sepiol,⁸² and both these methods could be very useful for the synthesis of aminonaphthalenes.



 $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Examples: } R_1 = H, \ R_2 = H, \ R_3 = H, \ R_4 = Me, \ Y = CO_2 Et, \ 88\%; \\ R_1 = Ph, \ R_2 = H, \ R_3 = H, \ R_4 = Me, \ Y = CN, \ 71\% \end{array}$

Scheme 20.



This work has recently been extended to include the cyclization of 4-(2-cyanophenyl)but-2-enoates and the corresponding nitrile **77** (Scheme 21) to afford aminonaphthalenes **78** in excellent yields. The amide anion intermediates could also be trapped with an isocyanate to afford the corresponding benzo[*h*]quinazolinedione derivatives **79** in good yields.^{83,84}

4. Transition metal-mediated cyclizations

A widely used and rapidly growing method for the synthesis of naphthalenes and naphthols involves the use of transition metals in cyclization reactions.⁸⁵

4.1. Chromium-assisted methods

At present, the most widely used transition metal-mediated method for the synthesis of naphthalenes is the Dötz benzannulation. The reaction of an alkoxy-aryl carbene complex such as **80** with an alkyne to afford a naphthol product **81** (Scheme 22) was first reported by Dötz 27 years ago.⁸⁶ Since its discovery, this chromium-mediated benzannulation, which allows access to densely functionalised arenes, has found application in the synthesis of many natural products with a naphthalene or naphthoquinone nucleus. Although few steps are involved in this method it is probably not viable for industrial purposes. This work has been the subject of several recent reviews^{87–91} and therefore will not be covered in detail here. However, a few new developments will be discussed.



Scheme 22.

Merlic and co-workers have synthesized functionalised aminonaphthalenes using chromium carbene chemistry (Scheme 23).^{92–96} Examples of their work include the reaction of carbene complex **82** with *tert*-butylisonitrile to afford an intermediate ketenimine **83**. This intermediate then underwent thermal electrocyclization to the *o*-alkoxy-naphthylamine **84**, an important intermediate in the synthesis of the calphostins.



Scheme 23.

The reaction of alkynylboronates with Fischer carbene complexes has also recently been achieved (Scheme 24).^{97,98} For example, reaction of chromium carbene **85** with boronate **86** gave the naphthaleneboronic ester **87** as a single regioisomer in 73% yield, with a minor amount of the deboronated side-product. It is likely that these products could be formed from aryl halides by lithium–halogen exchange followed by quenching with a suitable boronic ester, but not in the presence of a naphthol. This type of product could be used as a synthetic intermediate in Suzuki coupling reactions.



Scheme 24.

More recently, attempts have been made to use the Dötz reaction to make chiral planar arene–chromium tricarbonyl complexes using chiral auxiliaries. Dötz⁹⁹ has reported that reaction of (–)-menthol complex **88** with 3,3-dimethylbut-1-yne **89** gives naphthalene **90** in a diasteromeric ratio of 10:1 (Scheme 25). However, Wulff showed that very low asymmetric induction levels (0–20%) were obtained when trying to generalise this type of reaction.¹⁰⁰ Other approaches using chromium carbenes to synthesize multi-substituted naphthalenes have also been published by Dötz.¹⁰¹



Scheme 25.



Scheme 26.

Chromium-containing Fischer carbenes react with enynealdehydes or ketones such as **91** in the presence of dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate (DMAD) to afford naphthalenes such as **92** (Scheme 26).¹⁰² It has been shown that the reaction proceeds by way of the intermediate isobenzofuran **93** which would undergo a Diels-Alder with DMAD. Herndon used *o*-alkynylstyrene derivatives such as **94** to give substituted naphthalenes **95**, in moderate yields, as illustrated in Scheme 26.¹⁰³

Other recent examples utilizing the Dötz reaction include the synthesis of a highly oxygenated precursor of the antibiotic γ -rubromycin¹⁰⁴ and an application of the methodology to the synthesis of fredericamycin A.¹⁰⁵ Moser¹⁰⁶ has published a range of examples displaying the conversion of intermediates like **96** to substituted naphthalenes such as compound **97** (Scheme 27).



Scheme 27.

The chromium-promoted cycloaddition/-Ramberg–Backlund rearrangement has also been used for the synthesis of naphthalenes. Exposure of the tricarbonylchromium(0) complex **98** to diene **99** in the presence of light afforded intermediate **100**. Treating **100** with base and *N*-chlorosuccinimide (NCS), followed by a second equivalent of base afforded naphthalene **101** as shown in Scheme 28.¹⁰⁷ This method afforded low yields of naphthalene products and may not be very versatile as the production of a range of chromium complexes could be difficult.



Scheme 28.

4.2. Manganese-mediated radical cyclization

A manganese-mediated radical cyclization involving two single-electron oxidations has been described by Snider and Zhang for the synthesis of the antitumour antibiotic okicenone.¹⁰⁸ The initial one-electron oxidation of **102** afforded the α -chloro radical intermediate **103**, which gave **104** in 42% yield after a second one-electron oxidation and loss of HCl (Scheme 29). Deprotection of both methyl ethers of **104** with boron tribromide gave okicenone **105**. Steric effects of the chlorine substituent appear to slow down the 7-endo cyclization, thereby favouring formation of the 6-exo product.



Scheme 29.

Rickards has reported another promising manganesemediated method for the synthesis of naphthols **106** from diketones such as **107**.¹⁰⁹ However, it should be noted that often the major product is the tetralone such as **108** (Scheme 30), which could probably be converted into the corresponding naphthalene. This manganese-mediated radical cyclization has since been used for the synthesis of other polycylic systems.¹¹⁰





4.3. Palladium-catalysed cyclizations

4.3.1. From arynes. The synthesis of functionalised naphthalenes by the palladium-catalysed reaction of arynes with alkynes has been reported mainly by two groups. Yamamoto and co-workers generated benzynes from compound **109** by reaction with cesium fluoride, followed by a controlled carbopalladation with allyl chloride and functionalised alkynes to afford naphthalenes **110** in moderate yields.^{111,112} A mechanism is proposed in Scheme 31.



Pérez and co-workers generated benzynes in a similar fashion from **111**, and subsequent palladium-catalysed cocyclization of the benzynes with alkynes gave naphthalenes **112** in good yields (54-83%), probably via the formation of intermediate **113** (Scheme 32).^{113,114} Of particular interest was their observation that the use of Pd₂(dba)₃ (dba=dibenzylideneacetone) gave naphthalenes **112** as the major products, while using Pd(PPh₃)₄ as catalyst afforded mainly phenanthrenes **114**.



Scheme 32.

4.3.2. From vinylic iodides and triflates. Larock and co-workers have used the palladium-catalysed annulation of alkynes with vinylic iodides and triflates in their strategy towards functionalised naphthalenes as shown in Scheme $33.^{115-118}$ The vinylic iodides and triflates used





 R_4 = Me, Ph or Et, R_5 = *t*-Bu, CMe₂OH, SiEt₃, SiMe₃, Ph,



15

were of types **115** and **116** and all contained phenyl substituents. The resulting substituted naphthalenes **117** and **118** were isolated in low to good yields, and displayed a wide range of functional diversity. Possible intermediates involved in the synthesis of naphthalene **117** are included in Scheme 33.

An interesting route to functionalised 2-aminonaphthalenes was discovered by the Larock group when phenylacetonitriles **119** were treated with internal alkynes and a palladium catalyst (Scheme 34).¹¹⁹ The 2-naphthylamines **120** were isolated in good yields, and only the reaction with 4-octyne resulted in a surprising product, 2-amino-3-(1-propenyl)-4-*n*-propylnaphthalene **121**, albeit in a rather disappointing yield. Larock and co-workers have also published other related approaches to naphthalenes.¹²⁰





4.3.3. Miscellaneous annulations. The arylnaphthalene lignan lactone helioxanthin **122** was synthesized by Mizufune and co-workers by a novel regioselective benzannulation reaction from lactone **123** utilizing palladium acetate as catalyst (Scheme 35).¹²¹ The proposed mechanism involves an initial oxidative addition of the catalyst into the aryl-halide bond followed by *syn* insertion into the intramolecular alkene. Although it is a single example, conceivably this reaction could be generalised for the synthesis of a variety of substituted naphthalenes.





The synthesis of functionalised naphthols and naphthalenes by palladium-catalysed annulation of *o*-bromobenzaldehydes with carbonyl compounds has been elegantly exploited by the group of Miura.¹²² When *o*-bromobenzaldehydes **124** reacted with α , β -unsaturated aldehydes **125** in the presence of palladium acetate, a mixture of naphthols **126** and naphthalenes **127** was isolated in reasonable yields (Scheme 36).

An extension of this work is shown in Scheme 37. Similar *o*-bromobenzaldehydes **124** were treated with diaryl-2-propanones **128**, and the products **129** were produced.



Ŕ₄ 127

(50-77%)

 $R_1 = H \text{ or OMe}; R_2 = H \text{ or OMe}; R_3 = H \text{ or OMe}$ $R_4 = Et$, Me or *i*-Pr; $R_5 = Et$, Me, Ph or *n*-Pr

Scheme 36.



Scheme 37.

Another way to make substituted naphthols that has not been used extensively is to introduce the oxygen-bearing carbon atom as carbon monoxide. This has been done using a palladium-catalysed carbonylative cyclization reaction that converts substrate **130** into naphthol **131** as shown in Scheme 38.¹²³ Although this is the sole example presented, the method has potential for the synthesis of a variety of naphthols. Work utilizing palladium-mediated enyne-allene cycloaromatization resulting in the formation of substituted naphthalenes has also been published by Saalfrank and co-workers¹²⁴





4.4. Transition metal-mediated electrocyclization

Work done by Iwasawa and co-workers involving treatment of aromatic enynes with a catalytic amount of $W(CO)_5$ ·THF, has been shown to afford naphthalene products.^{125–127} For example, treatment of **132** with $W(CO)_5$ ·THF gave methylnaphthalene **133** by way of proposed vinylidene intermediate **134** (Scheme 39). This



Scheme 39.

intermediate underwent a $_{\pi}6$ electrocyclic process followed by 1,2-hydrogen migration and regeneration of the catalyst to afford **133** in 81% yield.

This relatively new application of tungsten vinylidene intermediates gave 1-substituted and 1,2-disubstituted naphthalenes in moderate to excellent yields ranging from 31 to 100%. However, long reaction times of 3-5 days were required if catalytic amounts of tungsten were used. 2-Monosubstituted naphthalenes were not formed, and the nature of the starting material and proposed intermediates of the reaction prevent substitution at positions 3 and 4 of the newly formed ring. Naphtho-fused heterocycles (such as **135**) were also synthesized from substrates **136** in high yield (Scheme 40).¹²⁷





Another innovation developed by this group showed that silyl enol ethers such as **137** gave functionalised naphthalenes **138** in excellent yields (Scheme 41).





The Iwasawa research group succeeded in isolating the tungsten intermediates **139**, prepared from precursors **140**.¹²⁵ These compounds were then submitted to a Diels–Alder reaction with electron-rich alkenes. The resultant functionally diverse naphthalene derivatives **141**, presumably obtained by way of intermediate **142**, were isolated in good yields as shown in Scheme 42.



The cyclization of alkynyl silyl enol ethers such as **143** (Scheme 43) by a variety of different transition metal complexes has been pursued by Dankwardt.¹²⁸ The catalysts, based on rhodium, platinum, palladium and ruthenium, all gave the desired naphthalenes **144** in excellent yields. A noteworthy point is that even a silver complex was able to perform the transformation, although only if present in stoichiometric amounts.



Scheme 43.

Of additional interest was the observation that naphthalenes formed from precursors that contained a silyl-substituted acetylene such as **145**, were functionalised at the 4- rather than at the 3-position in product **146**.¹²⁸ The proposed mechanism for the reaction is shown in Scheme 44 and involves rhodium complexes **147** and **148**.



Scheme 44.

Dankwardt has applied the same reaction to the substituted pyrrole system **149**, and found that the transition metal catalysts were highly proficient in performing the required cyclization reaction to afford pyrrolo-fused naphthalenes **150** in good yields (Scheme 45).¹²⁸



Scheme 45.

4.5. Cobalt-mediated reactions

Kita and co-workers have published an interesting oxidative intramolecular [4+2] cycloaddition reaction of (phenyl-thio)acetylene-cobalt complex **151** which afforded compound **152** containing a multi-substituted naphthalene motif (Scheme 46).¹²⁹ This was followed by an aromatic



Scheme 46.

Pummerer-type reaction to replace the sulfinyl group with an oxygen functionality to give **153**, an advanced precursor to fredericamycin A. This may not be a general method for the synthesis of naphthalenes, but shows promise as an alternative approach to complex naphthalene skeletons.

The Pauson–Khand reaction has also been used to synthesize a substituted naphthalene. As shown in Scheme 47, exposure of substrate 154 to $Co_2(CO)_8$ in refluxing toluene gave naphthalene 155, presumably through intermediate 156. The scope of this reaction needs to be explored further, and provided that a variety of substrates similar to 154 can be formed easily, this could be a versatile method for the formation of cyclopentanone-fused naphthalenes.¹³⁰





4.6. Ruthenium-catalysed ring-closing metathesis

Ring-closing metathesis (RCM) has recently emerged as a versatile method for constructing small to medium cyclic systems, and several examples of naphthalene syntheses have been published. Huang and Wang have synthesized suitable RCM precursors **157** and then formed the functionalised naphthalenes **158** in high yield using the Grubbs catalyst **159** (Scheme 48).¹³¹





Grigg and co-workers have communicated the use of RCM in the synthesis of two naphthalenes from *N*-tosyl protected tetrahydroisoquinolines **160** (Scheme 49).¹³² Metathesis and subsequent expulsion of the tosylimine fragment from intermediate **161** gave the naphthalenes **162** in unspecified yields, amongst other products.



Scheme 49.

4.7. Nickel-mediated cyclization

Elegant work by Bennett and co-workers has led to the regioselective synthesis of 2,3-naphthylenebis(diphenylphosphines) **163** starting from nickel(0)-benzyne complexes **164** (Scheme 50).¹³³ The reaction of benzyne **164** with diphenylprop-1-ynylphosphine at low temperatures with subsequent addition of bromine resulted in high yields of nickel complex **165**. Reaction of this complex with sodium cyanide afforded the bis(diphenylphosphines) **163**, which could be oxidized to their mono or bis(phosphine oxides). A topical microreview has recently been published on this work.¹³⁴



Scheme 50.

4.8. Copper, zinc and tin mediated cyclization of zirconocene complexes

The copper-mediated coupling of zirconacyclopentadienes **166** with di- and tetra-halobenzenes **167** has been used by Takahashi and co-workers to synthesize a range of polyfunctional naphthalenes **168** (Scheme 51).¹³⁵ The reaction is thought to proceed via intermediate **169** and yields for a variety of highly functionalised naphthalenes were moderate to good.

Further extensions to this work have led to the reaction of zirconaindene **170** with dimethylacetylene dicarboxylate (DMAD) to afford naphthalene **171** in 54% isolated yield (Scheme 52).¹³⁶

More recently, Duan has demonstrated that zirconaindenes **172** undergo reactions with allyl bromide and zinc bromide,



Scheme 51.





in the presence of a catalytic quantity of $Pd(PPh_3)_4$, to afford naphthalenes as a mixture of regioisomers **173** and **174** by way of proposed intermediates **175** and **176** (Scheme 53).¹³⁷ When R was a phenyl or substituted phenyl group, only the major regioisomer **173** was isolated in yields of 40-59%.



Scheme 53.

Finally, in this section, when the substituted zirconacyclopentadiene **177** was treated with a mole equivalent of dibutyltin dimethoxide, DMAD and benzyne, the disilyl-naphthalene **178** was formed in good yield (Scheme 54).¹³⁸





4.9. Rhodium-mediated cyclization

The group of Karady and Reamer found during a revision of their earlier published work that the rhodium-catalysed decomposition of diazoketone **179** afforded near quanti-

tative yields of naphthol **180** (Scheme 55).¹³⁹ This result was rationalized as having occurred by a Wolff rearrangement, followed by cyclization of the ketene intermediate **181**. The same group also found that a Lewis-acid promoted ring closure of diazoketone **179** gave regioisomeric naphthol **182** in moderate yields.



Scheme 55.

5. Rearrangement of strained rings

5.1. Rearrangement of cyclobutenones

The thermally induced ring expansion of cyclobutenones affords aromatic products in relatively good yields.^{140–145} The reaction appears to be tolerant of a wide variety of functional groups, including halides, esters and amines. Like the Fischer carbene benzannulation (Section 4.1) and the rhodium-catalysed reaction shown above, this reaction also proceeds through a dienylketene intermediate (Scheme 56). For example, thermolysis of **183** gave the ketene intermediate **184**, which, upon electrocyclic ring closure, formed the naphthol **185** in 73% yield.^{146,147}



Scheme 56.

Moore has extended this work to the synthesis of naphtho[2,1-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-ones **186**¹⁴⁸ and annulated furans.¹⁴⁹ The naphthofuranones were produced in

moderate to good yields by heating the corresponding cyclobutenediones **187** in xylene (Scheme 57). The mechanism of this reaction probably involves electrocyclic ring opening to dienyl ketene **188** followed by a $_{\pi}6$ electrocyclization and addition of the phenol to the ketene as depicted in intermediate **189**.¹⁴⁶



R = Me, 60%, *n*-Bu, 47%, Ph, 76%, Ph-(Ph), 69%

Scheme 57.

Another interesting rearrangement of the cyclobutenone skeleton has been demonstrated by Suzuki and co-workers in their base-promoted ring expansion of 2-alkoxy-2-vinylbenzocyclobutenols **190** to naphthalene derivatives **191** (Scheme 58).¹⁵⁰ The precursors **192** were prepared in high yield by the addition of an ethenyllithium reagent to **193**. Reduction of the ketone functionality produced the intermediate alcohol **190**. Lithium dialkylamides were then effective in facilitating the conversion of **190** into the naphthalenes **191**. When R_2 was H or Me, alcohol **194** was stable to dehydration during silica gel chromatography and was isolated in good to excellent yields. This method results in the formation of naphthalenes substituted at positions 1-, 2- and 3- of the newly formed ring.



Scheme 58.

5.2. Rearrangement of cyclopropanes

Tanabe et al. have described the synthesis of halogenated naphthalenes and naphthols from suitably substituted cyclopropanes. Their synthesis of halogenated naphthalenes was brought about by the acid-catalysed ring opening of aryl(2,2-dihalocyclopropyl)methanols **195**, as outlined in Scheme 59.^{151–153} One of two possible bond cleavages of **196** occurs, depending on the stability of the resulting carbocation intermediate **197** or **198**. The cation then undergoes an intramolecular Friedel–Crafts reaction to afford the corresponding naphthalene product **199** or **200**. Yields for a wide variety of functionalised naphthalenes were moderate to excellent.



Scheme 59.

In a related transformation, the synthesis of naphthols has been achieved by two sequential Friedel–Crafts reactions of 3-aryl-2,2-dihalocyclopropanecarbonyl chlorides such as **201**.¹⁵⁴ An intramolecular cyclization similar to that shown in the previous scheme afforded intermediate **202**. This was followed by a second, intermolecular Friedel–Crafts coupling reaction to yield the naphthols **203** in moderate yields (Scheme 60).



Scheme 60.

In other recently published work, Tanabe's group has synthesized regioisomeric naphthalenes **204** and **205** starting from the two cyclopropyl diastereoisomers **206** and **207**, respectively (Scheme 61).¹⁵⁵ This rearrangement is thought to go through an intermediate such as **208**, the stereochemistry of which determines the direction of ring expansion to give the two possible products. These last three methods provide a useful route to halogenated naphthalenes that could find application in metal-mediated coupling reactions.





Chang and Park have reported a photoinduced rearrangement of benzobicyclo[3.1.0]hexanones **209** to give 1-naphthols **210**, probably via the dienyl ketene intermediate **211** (Scheme 62).¹⁵⁶ Yields of the biaryl products are good to excellent. It should be noted, however, that only two examples of this reaction have been published.





6. Acid- and Lewis acid-catalysed intramolecular cyclizations

The naphthalene backbone can be synthesized by an intramolecular Friedel–Crafts acylation reaction. There are a number of variations of this method; however, each requires the formation of a suitably substituted aromatic precursor such as **212**. A limitation to this method is that the aromatic ring often has to be electron rich. However, in general, treatment of **212** with acid or a Lewis acid affords naphthol product **213** (Scheme 63). If the precursor is the carboxylic acid (i.e. R_2 =OH), reaction with a chloroformate



or trifluoroacetic anhydride affords naphthols of type **213**. A number of variations on this theme have been reported.¹⁵⁷

Traditional methods for synthesising precursors such as compound **212** include, for example, the reaction of benzene with succinic anhydride in the presence of aluminum trichloride.¹⁵⁸ However some more recent methods do exist. For example, in the presence of zeolite β or BF₃·OEt₂, certain benzyl allyl ethers **214** rearrange to the desired precursors **215**.¹⁵⁹ The reaction presumably proceeds by a 1,4 rearrangement followed by a 1,2-hydride shift as depicted in intermediate **216** (Scheme 64). When **215** was treated with polyphosphoric acid at elevated temperatures, naphthalene products **217** were isolated in moderate yields.



Scheme 64.

The Stobbe condensation has also been widely used in the synthesis of precursors such as $212.^{160}$ This condensation involves the reaction of an aromatic aldehyde with dimethyl or diethyl succinate. Recently, the Stobbe condensation has been utilized in the synthesis of (*S*)-(+)-gossypol **3**, the initial steps of which are shown in Scheme 65.^{5,161} The aldehyde **218** was treated with dimethyl succinate and sodium hydride to afford the naphthalene precursor **219**. Treatment of compound **219** with a mixture of acetic acid and acetic anhydride effected cyclization to naphthalene **220**, which was isolated in 59% yield over three steps from aldehyde **218**. Other recent examples using similar methodology have also been published.¹⁶²



Scheme 65.

Sargent et al. employed a Wittig alternative to the Stobbe condensation in their synthesis of the toxin stypandrol.^{163,164} As shown in Scheme 66, the naphthalene precursor **221** was synthesized in 85% yield by treatment of the dialdehyde





222 with a suitably substituted phosphorus ylide. Cyclization to the desired binaphthyl **223** was achieved by treatment of **221** with trifluoroacetic acid, followed by heating to reflux with potassium acetate and acetic anhydride. The binaphthyl product was isolated in reasonable yield from compound **221**. This approach has also been used by other researchers in the synthesis of natural products and analogues.^{165,166}

Diones **224** have been used in intramolecular Friedel– Crafts reactions to afford substituted naphthalenes (Scheme 67). These precursors **224** were synthesized from methyl ketones such as **225** and aromatic α -bromo ketones **226**.¹⁶⁷ Treatment of the methyl ketone **225** with a magnesium base and reaction with **226** resulted in the formation of the desired 1-aryl-2,4-dione **224** by means of a 1,2-aromatic shift (as shown in **227**). Subsequent acid-mediated cyclization afforded the 1,4-disubstituted-2-naphthols **228** in moderate yields as shown in Scheme 67.



Scheme 67.

Another variation in the acid-catalysed synthesis of naphthalenes is by way of the acetal-protected benzene derivative **229**, as described by Chern and co-workers¹⁶⁸ (Scheme 68) and others.^{169,170} The naphthalenes **230** synthesized by this method were isolated in moderate to good yields and were substituted at the 2-position on the newly formed ring.



Scheme 68.

A related synthesis of polyfunctionalised naphthalenes has been reported by Vuligonda, Chandraratna and co-workers, who cyclized the *E*-geometrical isomers **231** and **232** with tin tetrachloride, followed by base mediated hydrolysis to give naphthalenes **233** and **234**, respectively, in excellent yields (Scheme 69).¹⁷¹





Schmidt and co-workers have reported the related annulation of aromatic dienes such as 235 with α -halobenzocyclobutenones 236 to produce fused naphthalenes 237 in poor to moderate yields (Scheme 70).¹⁷² The proposed mechanism includes the two intermediates 238 and 239. Of particular interest is that in this example a Lewis acid was unnecessary for the reaction to proceed.



Scheme 70.

Hoye and co-workers utilized an acid-mediated transformation in their synthesis of the naphthalene portion of the michellamines (Scheme 71).^{66,173} However, in this method the aromatic portion acts as the nucleophile. The 1,4addition of the anion derived from sulfone **240** to methyl crotonate afforded **241** in 86% yield in a similar manner to the first step of the phthalide annulation. Hydrolysis of the ester, cyclization and aromatization gave the naphthalene **242** in 80% overall yield from **241**.



Scheme 71.

In a similar fashion, Katritzky et al. have employed the electron-withdrawing ability of the benzotriazole group to facilitate lithiation of aromatic precursors such as 243.¹⁷⁴ These lithio derivatives readily undergo 1,4-addition with a variety of α , β -unsaturated ketones and aldehydes, for example 244, as shown in Scheme 72. The intermediate addition product 245 then cyclized in situ in the presence of a mixture of acetic acid and hydrobromic acid, or polyphosphoric acid to afford the naphthalene 246 in a moderate yield. A representative example of the eight naphthalenes synthesized is described in Scheme 72.



Scheme 72.

Another interesting synthesis of naphthalenes which is acid catalysed involves the treatment of substituted phenyl-acetylenes such as **247** with camphorsulfonic acid in hot chloroform to afford naphthol **248** (Scheme 73).¹⁷⁵ This work has been applied to a number of substrates to afford 2,3-disubstituted-1-naphthols.



Scheme 73.

A related benzannulation example has been reported by Yamamoto and co-workers (Scheme 74).¹⁷⁶ Treatment of the silyl enol ether **249** with a Lewis acid such as ethylaluminium dichloride resulted in the formation of naphthol **250** in moderate yield.



Scheme 74.

An interesting but isolated example of the rearrangement of bisalkynylbenzil **251** to afford the substituted naphthalene **252** has been reported (Scheme 75).¹⁷⁷ The authors postulate that the fused naphthalene **252** is formed by way of cationic intermediates **253** and **254**.



Scheme 75.

The condensation of α -oxoketene dithioacetals with aryl Grignard reagents has been employed by Junjappa and co-workers in their synthesis of substituted naph-thalenes.^{178–180} For example, the 1,2-addition of Grignard reagent **255** to α -oxoketene dithioacetal **256** gave the carbinol intermediate **257**. Lewis acid-catalysed cyclization of **257** afforded the naphthalene **258** in good yield (Scheme 76).



Scheme 76.

Another example of the use of Grignard reagents in the preparation of Friedel–Crafts precursors has been published by Mellor et al.¹⁸¹ Reaction of benzylmagnesium bromide **259** with compound **260** afforded intermediate **261**, which, on treatment with *p*-toluenesulfonic acid afforded the trifluoromethylnaphthalene **262** (Scheme 77). With this methodology a number of substituted naphthalenes could be produced in good yields.



Scheme 77.

Cotelle and co-workers have reported the dimerisation of arylacetones **263** with boron tribromide to afford aryl-naphthalenes **264** in moderate to good yields.^{182–185} Some examples are illustrated in Scheme 78.



Scheme 78.

2-Arylnaphthalenes have been prepared by Kim et al. by treating *N*-tosylated phenylalanine derivatives **265** with sulfuric acid.¹⁸⁶ A number of naphthalene products **266** were isolated in yields of 26-86% using this method (Scheme 79).



Scheme 79.

Scheme 80.

The acid catalysed rearrangement of some complex substrates has led to the formation of substituted naph-thalenes. For example, exposure of **267** to HClO₄ afforded naphthalene **268** in high yield (Scheme 80).¹⁸⁷ This remarkable rearrangement is probably driven by the



product 268.



stability of the aromatic system, with the benzylic methyl

group of 267 becoming the α -methyl substituent in the

Finally, in this section, exposure of precursor **269** to light afforded acetylnaphthalene **270** (Scheme 81).¹⁸⁸ Interest-

ingly, in the presence of protic acid but in the absence of

light, deacetylated naphthalene 271 was produced from the

same starting material 269 in high yield.

Scheme 81.

7. Phosphorus ylides in the synthesis of naphthalenes

Only a few examples of phosphorus-assisted naphthalene syntheses have been recently reported as outlined below.

The first includes the synthesis of the naphthalene nucleus by an intramolecular Wittig reaction as shown in Scheme 82.¹⁸⁹ Thermolysis of the ylides **272** with loss of triphenylphosphine oxide afforded the desired fluoro-alkylnaphthalenes **273** in excellent yields.





A Horner–Emmons reaction between ketoaldehyde **274** and phosphonate **275**, followed by a Claisen condensation was used by Harrowven and co-workers to assemble the lignan framework **276** of justicidin B and retrojusticidin B (Scheme 83).¹⁹⁰





Apart from the Wittig-type reactions, stabilised phosphorus ylides **277** have found application in the synthesis of naphthalenes **278** by the thermal extrusion of triphenylphosphine oxide using flash vacuum pyrolysis (Scheme 84).¹⁹¹ The reaction presumably occurs by way of intermediate **279**. The naphthalene products such as **278** were isolated in moderate yields.





8. Anionic ring annulations

Over the last few years several examples of substituted naphthalene syntheses by way of base-induced methods have been disclosed. In this section of the review we will highlight some examples.

Snieckus and co-workers have used a novel anionic cyclization reaction in the synthesis of substituted naphthols¹⁹² and 9-phenanthrols.^{193,194} The precursors for this reaction were synthesized using the extensively reported directed *ortho* metallation methodology developed by this group.^{195,196} As shown in Scheme 85, lithiation of aromatic benzamide **280** is directed *ortho* to the amide group, with subsequent transmetallation and substitution with allyl bromide affording the desired *o*-allylbenzamide **281**. Treatment of this precursor with a base such as lithium diisopropylamide or methyllithium resulted in the formation of naphthol **282** in good yield. An investigation of the



mechanism of the reaction has revealed that the naphthol product could be formed from intermediate **283** by two pathways. The first involves direct cyclization from anion **284**, while the second involves formation of benzocyclobutane **285** followed by a [1,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement.

A number of years after Snieckus, Coudert and co-workers applied the same anionic cyclization procedure to substrates **286** to synthesize substituted naphthols **287** as described in Scheme 86.¹⁹⁷ Clive et al. have also used the Snieckus methodology to synthesize a naphthalene precursor used in their synthesis of fredericamycin A.¹⁹⁸



Scheme 86.

Hattori, Miyano and co-workers have used a base-promoted cyclization strategy to synthesize functionalised naphthols as described in Scheme 87.¹⁹⁹ It was found that reaction of **288** with sodium methoxide in HMPA gave a good yield of naphthol **289**. This naphthol is a key component of the michellamines (such as compound **6**). The synthesis of the precursor **288** was done by way of a nucleophilic aromatic substitution reaction on compound **290**.



Scheme 87.

de Koning et al. have described a related base-mediated method which results in the synthesis of naphthalenes **291** rather than naphthols.^{200,201} The main difference between this method and those described above is that the carbonyl containing substituent on the aromatic ring is an aldehyde or ketone, as in **292**, rather than an ester. In addition, it has been shown that light from a high pressure mercury lamp promotes this reaction and that much lower yields of naphthalenes are obtained when the reaction is carried out in the absence of light. Therefore, as shown in Scheme **88**, the reaction may proceed by either an anionic mechanism, via intermediate **293**.

Kim and co-workers have used the well-known Baylis-Hillman reaction in the regioselective synthesis of substituted naphthalene derivatives (Scheme 89).²⁰² The nitronate anion generated from nitroalkane **295** was reacted with **296** to afford the Baylis–Hillman adduct **297**





predominantly as the E isomer. A subsequent nucleophilic substitution on the electron-deficient aromatic ring to give intermediate **298** and elimination of nitrous acid then afforded the functionalised naphthalenes **299** in good to excellent yields.





Naphthalene **300**, a precursor to neocarzinostatin carboxylic acid, was synthesized by a modified Dieckmann cyclization by Rucker and Brückner.²⁰³ Although sodium methoxide was ineffective in achieving the condensation, lithium hexamethyldisilazide proved efficient in converting diester **301** into enol **302**, which was dehydrogenated to afford the naphthalene core in good yield (Scheme 90).



This route was also used by the group of Estévez, who formed naphthol **303** from ketone **304** by an intramolecular condensation.²⁰⁴ The naphthalene product, surprisingly, was oxidized in situ to afford naphthoquinone **305** en route to benzofuronaphthoquinone **306**. This methodology was applied to the synthesis of a number of naphthoquinones, one example of which is illustrated in Scheme 91.



Scheme 91.

The same family of compounds was synthesized from a papaverine skeleton **307** by this group.²⁰⁴ A representative example of this approach to afford functionalised naph-thalene **308**, by way of intermediate **309**, is described in Scheme 92.





In their total synthesis of the furaquinocins, Suzuki and coworkers utilized an interesting route to naphthalene intermediate **310** (Scheme 93).²⁰⁵ Saponification of dihydrofuran **311** with base and treatment with acetyl chloride generated mixed anhydride **312**. Heating under basic conditions then afforded naphthalene **310** in excellent yield. The authors postulated that this reaction could proceed by three possible mechanisms: attack by the internal enol ether on the mixed anhydride, formation of a ketene, or enol acetylation followed by electrocyclization.

In their synthetic approach towards benzo[b]naphtho[2,3-d]furan-6,11-diones, Estévez and co-workers have also synthesized naphthols**313**from benzaldehydes**314**in excellent yields under basic conditions (Scheme 94).²⁰⁶

26



Scheme 93.

Sodium hydroxide facilitated an intramolecular aldol condensation followed by dehydration to give the targets **313** in excellent yields.



Scheme 94.

Kiselyov recently reported an approach to polysubstituted naphthalenes **315** and **316** from phenylacetonitrile derivatives **317**, which were treated with LDA at low temperature



R = 2-Ph, 4-Ph, 2-Cl, 3-Cl, 4-Cl, 2-OMe, 3-OMe, 4-OMe

to generate anion $318.^{207,208}$ The reaction was quenched with ester 319, and the new anion formed, 320, then underwent reaction by the pathway proposed in Scheme 95. The major products, isolated in yields of 37-68%, were identified as naphthalene 315 as well as the self-condensation product 316 (20-35%). The product 316 could also be isolated in yields of up to 62% when only 319 was used as the starting material. To avoid the problems of self-condensation, the ester component 319 could be immobilized on a solid support to give 321; reaction with the anion of 317 then only gave compounds 315 in 30-67% yields.

The reaction of an aryne with the lithium anion of a phenylacetonitrile such as **322** also constitutes the strategy developed by Biehl and co-workers to synthesize complex naphthylamines of which **323** is a representative example.²⁰⁹ The yield of this product was 35% and 53% of the rearranged product **324** was also isolated as depicted in Scheme 96.



Scheme 96.

Makra and co-workers have reported that treatment of substrates **325** with base successfully generated functionalised naphthols **326** in good yields (Scheme 97).²¹⁰ A point of interest is that their experimental procedure requires the use of bases with potassium as counterion (e.g. potassium *t*-butoxide, potassium hexamethyldisilazide or potassium hydride). This procedure is very similar to the analogous acid-mediated cyclization reported earlier in Scheme 73, Section 6.



Scheme 97.

Drochner and Müller have used a tandem Michael reaction between an orsellinate **327** and a cyclic chiral Michael acceptor **328** to synthesize **329**, a precursor to the epimers of semi-vioxanthin (Scheme 98).²¹¹

Another anionic approach to the synthesis of naphthalenes has been reported by Shindo et al. as depicted in



Scheme 98.

Scheme 99.²¹² These researchers have generated ynolate anions **330** from α, α -dibromoesters **331**, and then used them in a tandem [2+2] cycloaddition-Dieckmann condensation reaction with ketones **332** to produce highly substituted naphthols **333**. It was postulated that the reaction proceeds via intermediates **334** and **335**.





In the final example described in this section, the ammonium salts **336** were transformed to their corresponding naphtho[2,3-*c*]pyrrolinium salts **337** by way of a base-catalysed intramolecular cyclization, as depicted in Scheme $100.^{213}$



Scheme 100.

9. Photochemically-mediated reactions

Reactions promoted by light have been a popular topic in modern organic synthesis.²¹⁴ Listed below are a number of recent photochemically-mediated reactions that have resulted in the formation of substituted naphthalenes.

D'Auria and co-workers found that irradiation of a solution containing 2-acetyl-5-phenylthiophene **338** and phenyl-acetylene **339** with a Nd:YAG laser (355 nm) gave 1-phenylnaphthalene **340** as the only detectable product (Scheme 101).²¹⁵ This was the only relevant example reported and it was postulated that the substituted thiophene is a sensitizer for this reaction, encouraging generation of the triplet state of phenylacetylene.



Scheme 101.

During an investigation by Hasegawa concerning the electron transfer photoreaction of halomethyl-substituted benzocyclic ketones such as **341** to give ring-expanded products, it was noted that instead of forming the expected product **342**, which was isolated in only 14% yield, the reaction afforded naphthalene **343** in 52% yield (Scheme 102).²¹⁶ The authors postulate that the mechanism includes the one-electron cascade depicted in intermediates **344**–**346**, followed by aromatization.





A study of the reaction pathways of stilbene analogues (traditionally used for the synthesis of phenanthrenes²¹⁷) when irradiated in acidic media has resulted in the synthesis



Scheme 103.

of a pair of substituted naphthalenes **347** and **348** as described in Scheme 103. This work by Ho and co-workers demonstrated that under dilute acidic conditions, the major product produced by the irradiation of *p*-methoxy-*trans*-stilbene **349** was the naphthylbuten-2-one **348** in 96% yield (53% conversion).²¹⁸ On the other hand, irradiation of **349** in a higher concentration of protic acid resulted in the formation of **347** (96% yield, 52% conversion).

10. Thermal cyclization reactions

Thermal biradical cyclization methodology has been investigated extensively in the synthesis of natural products (e.g. enediyne antitumor antibiotics) and for the construction of novel complex molecules. Pioneers in this field are Bergman (enediynes), Myers–Saito (enyneallenes) and Moore (enyne-ketenes) and their work is discussed in two topical reviews by Wang²¹⁹ and Grissom.²²⁰ The reviews also include a number of examples with general synthetic applicability for the synthesis of functionalised naphthalenes. This section of our review will briefly highlight some recent applications of this strategy in the synthesis of functionalised naphthalenes.

Ueda and co-workers have used the thermal biradical cyclization of non-conjugated aromatic enyne-allenes such as **350** to synthesize alcohols **351**, which were readily converted into cyclobuta[α]naphthalene derivatives **352** by way of **353** in excellent yields during silica gel column chromatography.²²¹ The proposed mechanism includes the formation of a biradical species **354** (Scheme 104).





Russell and co-workers studied the Bergman cyclization of a number of 4-substituted-1,2-diethynylbenzenes **355** to determine the linear free energy relationships of these reactions.²²² The cyclizations resulted in the formation of 2-substituted naphthalenes **356** in moderate to good yields (Scheme 105). Other examples describing the use of this type of cyclization methodology have been published by Iyoda,²²³ and König and Schreiner.²²⁴





Recent work communicated by Bowles and Anthony utilizes the Bergman cycloaromatization reaction as a versatile tool in the synthesis of 2,3-disubstituted naph-thalenes and their aromatic ring homologues as shown in Scheme 106.²²⁵ Compound **357** was converted into the dibromide **358**, which was subjected to a thermal reaction that produced 2,3-dibromonaphthalene **359** in good yield. This naphthalene, in turn, could be converted into the diyne **360** by a palladium-catalysed coupling reaction, and **360** could then be converted into the next aromatic homologue by repeating the procedure. The authors demonstrated the formation of naphthacene **361** by this iterative approach. An extension of this work was recently published.²²⁶



[dppf = 1,1'-bis(diphenylphosphino)ferrocene]

Scheme 106.

Lin and Wu have described the synthesis of a disubstituted naphthalene system **362** from an acyclic diene-triyne system **363** (Scheme 107).²²⁷ Unfortunately, the product was obtained in a yield of only 18%. Its formation was thought to proceed via the diradical process illustrated in the scheme.





In probing the proposed mechanism of action of the naturally occurring enediynes, Braverman and colleagues have demonstrated that the sulfone **364** cyclizes quantitatively to form naphthalene **365** under mild conditions (Scheme 108).²²⁸ The corresponding sulfoxide and sulfide starting materials also cyclized in a similar fashion, albeit at a slower rate.



Scheme 108.

Dopico and Finn have demonstrated that the cycloaromatization of aromatic allene enynes such as **366** produced functionalised naphthalene **367** (Scheme 109).²²⁹ The mediocre yield of **367** depended on the concentration of the reactant.



Scheme 109.

Toda and co-workers have successfully synthesized the sterically congested naphthalene **368** from diol **369** as demonstrated in Scheme 110.²³⁰ The diol **369** was converted into the diallene **370** with hydriodic acid in acetic acid, and subsequent heating afforded naphthalene **368** in low yield. This reaction may be suitable for synthesising other sterically congested naphthalenes.



Scheme 110.

Wang and co-workers have used diacetylenes such as **371** to form highly substituted naphthalene cores in a similar approach to that demonstrated in the previous scheme.²³¹ An example of this is illustrated in Scheme 111, in which diyne **371** forms compound **372** in excellent yield via a proposed allene **373** and diradical intermediate **374**.

Padwa and co-workers showed that heating α -diazo carbonyl compounds such as **375** resulted in the formation





of naphthols **376** in reasonable yields (Scheme 112).²³² A similar transformation could also be achieved by photolysis of **377** in methylene chloride. The mechanism of these photochemical transformations was postulated to occur via a Wolff rearrangement to o-alkynyl substituted arylketene **378**, which cyclizes to the diradical species **379**. The diradical could be quenched by solvent to afford **376** or by a tethered aromatic ring to give **380**.



Scheme 112.

Estévez and co-workers demonstrated that styrene **381** could be converted into 2-phenylnaphthalene derivative **382** in moderate yields by thermal electrocyclization and aromatization reactions (Scheme 113).²³³ This reaction presumably occurs by way of a bis-styrene intermediate.



Scheme 113.

30

Finally, Otsubo and co-workers have used the process of flash vacuum pyrolysis in their synthesis of a diverse selection of naphthothiophenes (Scheme 114).²³⁴ This methodology resulted in good yields of the tricyclic thiophene-fused naphthalene systems 383-385 from precursors 386-388 respectively.



Scheme 114.

11. Conclusion

As shown in this review a large number of methods based on a wide variety of reactions are available for the synthesis of substituted naphthalenes. Clearly this is an active area of research and we look forward to novel innovative approaches to the synthesis of these compounds.

Acknowledgements

This review is based on the introductory chapter of the PhD thesis of A. L. R. This work was supported by the National Research Foundation (NRF), Pretoria, and the University of the Witwatersrand (University Research Council). Professor J. P. Michael (University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa), Professor I. R. Green (University of the Western Cape, Cape Town, South Africa), Professor D. Ferreira (University of Mississippi, University, United States of America) and Professor R. G. F. Giles (Murdoch University, Perth, Australia) are thanked for reading the manuscript and making many valuable recommendations.

References

- 1. Thomson, R. H. Naturally Occurring Quinones IV. Recent Advances, 4th ed. Chapman & Hall: London, 1997.
- Kometani, T.; Takeuchi, Y.; Yoshii, E. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 2630–2632.
- 3. Lester, W. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 1972, 26, 85-102.
- 4. Rinehart, Jr. K. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 1972, 5, 57-64.
- 5. Meyers, A. I.; Willemsen, J. J. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1573-1574.
- 6. Laatsch, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 422-424.
- Decosterd, L. A.; Parsons, I. C.; Gustafson, K. R.; Cardellina, II., J. H.; McMahon, J. B.; Cragg, G. M.; Murata, Y.; Pannell, L. K.; Steiner, J. R.; Clardy, J.; Boyd, M. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 6673–6679.
- 8. Hallock, Y. F.; Manfredi, K. P.; Blunt, J. W.; Cardellina, II.,

J. H.; Schäffer, M.; Gulden, K.-P.; Bringmann, G.; Lee, A. Y.; Clardy, J.; François, G.; Boyd, M. R. *J. Org. Chem.* **1994**, *59*, 6349–6355.

- Boyd, M. R.; Hallock, Y. F.; Cardellina, II., J. H.; Manfredi, K. P.; Blunt, J. W.; McMahon, J. B.; R, W.; Buckheit, J.; Bringmann, G.; Schäffer, M.; Cragg, G. M.; Thomas, D. W.; Jato, J. G. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 1740–1745.
- Bringmann, G.; Pokorny, F. *The Alkaloids*, Cordell, G. A., Ed.; Academic: New York, 1995; Vol. 46, pp 127–271.
- de Koning, C. B.; Michael, J. P.; van Otterlo, W. A. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 3037–3040.
- de Koning, C. B.; Michael, J. P.; van Otterlo, W. A. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 799–811.
- Cook, L.; de Koning, C. B.; Fernandes, M. A.; Michael, J. P.; van Otterlo, W. A. L. Acta Crystallogr. sect. E 2002, 58, 0440–0441.
- 14. Bringmann, G.; Walter, R.; Weirich, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 977–991.
- 15. Noyori, R.; Ohkuma, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 40–73.
- Noyori, R.; Yamakawa, M.; Hashiguchi, S. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 7931–7944.
- Kumobayashi, H.; Miura, T.; Sayo, N.; Saito, T.; Zhang, X. Synlett 2001, 1055–1064.
- 18. Tye, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 275-298.
- 19. Pu, L. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 2405-2494.
- Bao, J.; Wulff, W. D.; Dominy, J. B.; Fumo, M. J.; Grant, E. B.; Rob, A. C.; Whitcomb, M. C.; Yeung, S.-M.; Ostrander, R. L.; Rheingold, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3392-3405.
- 21. Noyori, R. Asymmetric Catalysis in Organic Synthesis, Wiley: New York, 1994.
- 22. Imbos, R.; Brilman, M. H. G.; Pineschi, M.; Feringa, B. L. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 623–625.
- Shibasaki, M.; Kanai, M.; Funabashi, K. Chem. Commun. 2002, 1989–1999.
- 24. Shibasaki, M.; Yoshikawa, N. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 2187–2209.
- Matsunaga, S.; Ohshima, T.; Shibasaki, M. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2002, 344, 3–15.
- 26. Cram, D. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 1009–1020.
- 27. Katritzky, A. R.; Li, J.; Xie, L. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 8263–8293.
- Chiu, C. K.-F. Alkenyl and Aryl Chalcogenides: Oxygenbased Functional Groups. In *Comprehensive Organic Functional Group Transformations*, Ley, S. V., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1995; Vol. 2, pp 635–704.
- 29. Nebois, P.; Fillion, H. Heterocycles 1999, 50, 1137-1156.
- Banville, J.; Brassard, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1976, 1852–1856.
- 31. Danishefsky, S.; Kitahara, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 7807–7808.
- Bringmann, G.; Götz, R.; Keller, P. A.; Walter, R.; Boyd, M. R.; Lang, F.; Garcia, A.; Walsh, J. J.; Tellitu, I.; Bhaskar, K. V.; Kelly, T. R. J. Org. Chem. **1998**, 63, 1090–1097.
- Cameron, D. W.; Coller, D. R.; McDonald, C. A. Aust. J. Chem. 1999, 52, 833–836.
- Kitamura, M.; Ohmori, K.; Kawase, T.; Suzuki, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 1229–1232.
- Sestelo, J. P.; Real, M. M.; Mouriño, A.; Sarandeses, L. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 985–988.

- Sestelo, J. P.; Real, M. M.; Sarandeses, L. A. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 1395–1402.
- 37. Segura, J. L.; Martin, N. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 3199-3246.
- Charlton, J. L.; Alauddin, M. M. *Tetrahedron* 1987, 43, 2873–2889.
- Van De Water, R. W.; Pettus, T. R. R. *Tetrahedron* 2002, 58, 5367–5405.
- 40. Andersen, N. G.; Maddaford, S. P.; Keay, B. A. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 2885–2887.
- Kraus, G. A.; Li, J.; Gordon, M. S.; Jensen, J. H. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 1154–1159.
- 42. Kraus, G. A.; Li, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5859-5860.
- 43. Allen, J. G.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 351–352.
- 44. Allen, J. G.; Hentemann, M. F.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 571–575.
- Charlton, J. L.; Oleschuk, C. J.; Chee, G.-L. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 3452–3457.
- Sugahara, M.; Moritani, Y.; Terakawa, Y.; Ogiku, T.; Ukita, T.; Iwasaki, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 1377–1380.
- Ukita, T.; Nakamura, Y.; Kubo, A.; Yamamoto, Y.; Takahashi, M.; Kotera, J.; Ikeo, T. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 1293–1305.
- Huang, Z.; Lakshmikantham, M. V.; Lyon, M.; Cava, M. P. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5413–5415.
- Silva, A. M. S.; Silva, A. M. G.; Tomé, A. C.; Cavaleiro, J. A. S. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 135–139.
- Gawroński, J.; Gawrońska, K.; Brzostowska, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1191–1194.
- 51. Schmidt, A. H.; Kircher, G.; Willems, M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 2379–2385.
- 52. Gourvès, J.-P.; Ruzziconi, R.; Vilarroig, L. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 617–619.
- 53. Craig, D.; Robson, M. J.; Shaw, S. J. Synlett 1998, 1381-1383.
- 54. Giles, R. G. F.; Hughes, A. B.; Sargent, M. V. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 1581–1587.
- 55. Buttery, J. H.; Wege, D. Aust. J. Chem. 1998, 51, 409-419.
- Giles, R. G. F.; Joll, C. A.; Sargent, M. V.; Tilbrook, D. M. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 3029–3038.
- Futagami, S.; Ohashi, Y.; Imura, K.; Hosoya, T.; Ohmori, K.; Matsumoto, T.; Suzuki, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 1063–1067.
- de Koning, C. B.; Giles, R. G. F.; Engelhardt, L. M.; White, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1988, 3209–3216.
- Kitamura, T.; Yamane, M.; Inoue, K.; Todaka, M.; Fukatsu, N.; Meng, Z.; Fujiwara, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 11674–11679.
- Pascal, Jr. R. A.; Barnett, L.; Qiao, X.; Ho, D. M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 7711–7717.
- Zhang, J.; Ho, D. M.; Pascal, Jr. R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10919–10926.
- 62. Best, W. M.; Wege, D. Aust. J. Chem. 1986, 39, 635-645.
- 63. Peters, O.; Debaerdemaeker, T.; Friedrichsen, W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 59–69.
- Yudin, A. K.; Martyn, L. J. P.; Pandiaraju, S.; Zheng, J.; Lough, A. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 41–44.
- Platonov, V. E.; Osina, O. I.; Maksimov, A. M.; Kolechkina, V. G. J. Fluorine Chem. **1999**, *96*, 191–192.
- Hoye, T. R.; Chen, M.; Hoang, B.; Mi, L.; Priest, O. P. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 7184–7201.
- 67. Hauser, F. M.; Rhee, R. P. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 178-180.

- 68. Kraus, G. A.; Sugimoto, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1978, 2263–2266.
- Mitchell, A. S.; Russell, R. A. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 5207–5236.
- Swenton, J. S.; Freskos, J. N.; Dalidowicz, P.; Kerns, M. L. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 459–464.
- Matsumoto, T.; Yamaguchi, H.; Tanabe, M.; Yasui, Y.; Suzuki, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, 41, 8393–8396.
- Caliskan, E.; Cameron, D. W.; Griffiths, P. G. Aust. J. Chem. 1999, 52, 1013–1020.
- 73. Cox, C.; Danishefsky, S. J. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3493-3496.
- 74. Hauser, F. M.; Yin, H. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1045-1047.
- Ramesh, N. G.; Iio, K.; Okajima, A.; Akai, S.; Kita, Y. *Chem. Commun.* **1998**, 2741–2742.
- Kita, Y.; Higuchi, K.; Yoshida, Y.; Iio, K.; Kitagaki, S.; Akai, S.; Fujioka, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 683–686.
- 77. Kita, Y.; Iio, K.; Okajima, A.; Takeda, Y.; Kawaguchi, K.; Whelan, B. A.; Akai, S. *Synlett* **1998**, 292–294.
- Iio, K.; Ramesh, N. G.; Okajima, A.; Higuchi, K.; Fujioka, H.; Akai, S.; Kita, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 89–95.
- 79. Kita, Y.; Higuchi, K.; Yoshida, Y.; Iio, K.; Kitagaki, S.; Ueda, K.; Akai, S.; Fujioka, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3214–3222.
- Kobayashi, K.; Takada, K.; Tanaka, H.; Uneda, T.; Kitamura, T.; Morikawa, O.; Konishi, H. *Chem. Lett.* **1996**, 25–26.
- Barsy, M. A.; Latif, F. A.; Rady, E. A.; Hassan, M. E.; Maghraby, M. A. Synth. Commun. 2001, 31, 2569–2581.
- Sepiol, J. J.; Wilamowski, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 5287–5289.
- Kobayashi, K.; Uneda, T.; Takada, K.; Tanaka, H.; Kitamura, T.; Morikawa, O.; Konishi, H. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 664–668.
- Kobayashi, K.; Tanaka, H.; Takabatake, H.; Kitamura, T.; Nakahashi, R.; Morikawa, O.; Konishi, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1999, 72, 1071–1074.
- 85. Saito, S.; Yamamoto, Y. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 2901-2915.
- 86. Dötz, K. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1975, 14, 644-645.
- Casalnuovo, J. A.; Schore, N. E. Organometallic Cycloaddition Reactions of Acetylenes. In *Modern Acetylene Chemistry*. Stang, P. J., Diederich, F., Eds.; VCH: Weinheim, 1995; pp 139–172.
- Dötz, K. H.; Tomuschat, P. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1999, 28, 187–198.
- Wulff, W. D. Transition Metal Carbene Complexes: Alkyne and Vinyl Ketene Chemistry. In *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry II*, Abel, A. W., Stone, F. G. A., Wilkinson, G., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1995; Vol. 12, pp 469–547.
- 90. Dötz, K. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1984, 23, 587-608.
- 91. Schore, N. E. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 1081-1119.
- 92. Merlic, C. A.; Xu, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 7418-7420.
- Merlic, C. A.; Aldrich, C. C.; Albaneze-Walker, J.; Saghatelian, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3224–3225.
- Merlic, C. A.; Aldrich, C. C.; Albaneze-Walker, J.; Saghatelian, A.; Mammen, J. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 1297–1309.
- Merlic, C. A.; Burns, E. E.; Xu, D.; Chen, S. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8722–8724.
- Merlic, C. A.; Burns, E. E. Tetrahedron. Lett. 1993, 34, 5401–5404.
- Davies, M. W.; Johnson, C. N.; Harrity, J. P. A. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2107–2108.

32

- Davies, M. W.; Johnson, C. N.; Harrity, J. P. A. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 3525–3532.
- 99. Dötz, K. H.; Stinner, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 1751–1765.
- 100. Hsung, R. P.; Wulff, W. D.; Chamberlin, S.; Liu, Y.; Liu, R.-Y.; Wang, H.; Quinn, J. F.; Wang, S. L. B.; Rheingold, A. L. Synthesis 2001, 200–220.
- 101. Pfeiffer, J.; Nieger, M.; Dötz, K. H. Chem. Eur. J. 1998, 4, 1843–1851.
- 102. Jiang, D.; Herndon, J. W. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1267-1269.
- 103. Jackson, T. J.; Herndon, J. W. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 3859-3868.
- 104. Xie, X.; Kozlowski, M. C. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2661-2663.
- 105. Boger, D. L.; Hüter, O.; Mbiya, K.; Zhang, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 11839–11849.
- 106. Moser, W. H.; Sun, L.; Huffman, J. C. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3389–3391.
- 107. Rigby, J. H.; Warshakoon, N. C. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 7644–7645.
- 108. Snider, B. B.; Zhang, Q. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 3185-3187.
- 109. Jamie, J. F.; Rickards, R. W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1996, 2603–2613.
- 110. Tsai, A.-I.; Wu, Y.-L.; Chuang, C.-P. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 7829–7837.
- 111. Yoshikawa, E.; Radhakrishnan, K. V.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7280–7286.
- 112. Yoshikawa, E.; Yamamoto, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 173–175.
- Pena, D.; Pérez, D.; Guitián, E.; Castedo, L. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 6944–6950.
- 114. Pena, D.; Pérez, D.; Guitián, E.; Castedo, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 5827–5828.
- 115. Larock, R. C.; Doty, M. J.; Tian, Q.; Zenner, J. M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7536–7537.
- 116. Larock, R. C.; Tian, Q. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 2002-2009.
- 117. Larock, R. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 576, 111-124.
- 118. Larock, R. C. Pure Appl. Chem. 1999, 71, 1435-1442.
- 119. Larock, R. C.; Tian, Q.; Pletnev, A. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 3238–3239.
- 120. Larock, R. C.; Doty, M. J.; Han, X. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 8770–8779.
- 121. Mizufune, H.; Nakamura, M.; Mitsudera, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 437–439.
- 122. Terao, Y.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M.; Nomura, M. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 1315–1320.
- 123. Nieman, J. A.; Ennis, M. D. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2175–2177.
- 124. Saalfrank, R. W.; Haubner, M.; Deutscher, C.; Bauer, W.; Clark, T. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 6166–6168.
- 125. Iwasawa, N.; Shido, M.; Maeyama, K.; Kusama, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 10226–10227.
- 126. Maeyama, K.; Iwasawa, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1928–1929.
- 127. Maeyama, K.; Iwasawa, N. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 1344–1346.
- 128. Dankwardt, J. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 5809-5812.
- 129. Kita, Y.; Iio, K.; Kawaguchi, K. i.; Fukuda, N.; Takeda, Y.; Ueno, H.; Okunaka, R.; Higuchi, K.; Tsujino, T.; Fujioka, H.; Akai, S. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2000**, *6*, 3897–3905.
- Blanco-Urgoiti, J.; Casarrubios, L.; Domínguez, G.; Pérez-Castells, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 3315–3317.
- 131. Huang, K.-S.; Wang, E.-C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 6155–6157.

- 132. Evans, P.; Grigg, R.; Ramzan, M. I.; Sridharan, V.; York, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 3021–3024.
- 133. Bennett, M. A.; Cobley, C. J.; Wenger, E.; Willis, A. C. *Chem. Commun.* **1998**, 1307–1308.
- 134. Bennett, M. A.; Wenger, E. Chem Ber./Recueil 1997, 130, 1029–1042.
- 135. Takahashi, T.; Hira, R.; Nishihara, Y.; Kotora, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 5154–5155.
- 136. Takahashi, T.; Xi, Z.; Yamazaki, A.; Liu, Y.; Nakajima, K.; Kotora, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, 120, 1672–1680.
- 137. Duan, Z.; Nakajima, K.; Takahashi, T. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1672–1673.
- 138. Kabe, Y.; Sato, A.; Kadoi, S.; Chiba, K.; Ando, W. *Chem. Lett.* **2000**, 1082–1083.
- 139. Karady, S.; Amato, J. S.; Reamer, R. A.; Weinstock, L. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *46*, 8277–8280.
- 140. Moore, H. W.; Decker, O. H. W. Chem. Rev. 1986, 86, 821-830.
- 141. Liebeskind, L. S. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 3053-3060.
- 142. Belluš, D.; Ernst, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 797–827.
- 143. Moore, H. W.; Yerxa, B. R. Advances in Strain in Organic Chemistry, JAI: Greenwich, 1995; Vol. 4. pp 81–162.
- 144. Koo, S.; Liebeskind, L. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3389–3404.
- 145. Schmidt, A. H.; Kircher, G.; Maus, S.; Bach, H. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 2085–2094.
- 146. Tiedemann, R.; Turnbull, P.; Moore, H. W. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4030–4041.
- 147. Turnbull, P.; Moore, H. W. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 644–649.
- 148. Heileman, M. J.; Moore, H. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 3643–3646.
- 149. Turnbull, P.; Heileman, M. J.; Moore, H. W. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 2584–2585.
- Matsumoto, T.; Hamura, T.; Miyamoto, M.; Suzuki, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4853–4856.
- 151. Nishii, Y.; Tanabe, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. **1995**, 36, 8803–8806.
- 152. Tanabe, Y.; Seko, S.; Nishii, Y.; Yoshida, T.; Utsumi, N.; Suzukamo, G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1996, 2157–2165.
- 153. Nishii, Y.; Yoshida, T.; Tanabe, Y. Tetrahedron. Lett. 1997, 38, 7195–7198.
- 154. Nishii, Y.; Tanabe, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 477–486.
- 155. Wakasugi, K.; Nishii, Y.; Tanabe, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 5937–5942.
- 156. Chang, D. J.; Park, B. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 711–713.
- 157. Fuganti, C.; Serra, S. J. Chem. Res. (M) 1998, 2764-2772.
- Somerville, L. F.; Allen, C. F. H. Organic Syntheses, Blatt, A. H., Ed.; Wiely: New York, 1943; Vol. 2, pp 81–83.
- Wennerburg, J.; Olofsson, C.; Frejd, T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3595–3598.
- 160. Johnson, W. S.; Daub, G. H. *The Stobbe Condensation.* Organic Reactions, Wiley: New York, 1951; Vol. 6. pp 1–73.
- 161. Meyers, A. I.; Willemsen, J. J. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 10493–10511.
- 162. Couladouros, E. A.; Strongilos, A. T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 535–538.

- 163. Rizzacasa, M. A.; Sargent, M. V. Aust. J. Chem. 1987, 40, 1737–1743.
- 164. Rizzacasa, M. A.; Sargent, M. V. Aust. J. Chem. 1988, 41, 1087–1097.
- 165. Bringmann, G.; Ochse, M.; Götz, R. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 2069–2077.
- 166. Boger, D. L.; Turnbull, P. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 8004–8011.
- 167. Kel'in, A. V.; Kozyrkov, Y. Y. Synthesis 1998, 729-734.
- Kao, C.-L.; Yen, S. Y.; Chern, J.-W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, 41, 2207–2210.
- 169. Loozen, H. J. J. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 520-521.
- 170. Teague, S. J.; Roth, G. P. Synthesis 1986, 427-429.
- 171. Vuligonda, V.; Standeven, A. M.; Escobar, M.; Chandraratna, R. A. S. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, 9, 743–748.
- 172. Schmidt, A. H.; Kircher, G.; Bräu, E. J. Org. Chem. **1998**, 63, 1954–1960.
- 173. Hoye, T. R.; Mi, L. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8586-8588.
- 174. Katritzky, A. R.; Zhang, G.; Xie, L. J. Org. Chem. **1997**, 62, 721–725.
- 175. Ciufolini, M. A.; Weiss, T. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 1127–1130.
- Imamura, K.-i.; Yoshikawa, E.; Gevorgyan, V.; Yamamoto, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, 40, 4081–4084.
- 177. Dyker, G.; Stirner, W.; Henkel, G.; Köckerling, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 7457–7458.
- 178. Yadav, K. M.; Mohanta, P. K.; Ila, H.; Junjappa, H. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, *52*, 14049–14056.
- 179. Mehta, B. K.; Nandi, S.; Ila, H.; Junjappa, H. *Tetrahedron* 1999, 55, 12843–12852.
- Mehta, B. K.; Barun, O.; Ila, H.; Junjappa, H. Synthesis 1998, 1483–1486.
- 181. Mellor, J. M.; El-Sagheer, A. H.; Salem, E. E.-D. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 7383–7386.
- 182. Cotelle, P.; Catteau, J.-P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 2969–2972.
- 183. Dupont, R.; Cotelle, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 8457–8460.
- 184. Dupont, R.; Cotelle, P. Synthesis 1999, 1651-1655.
- 185. Dupont, R.; Goossens, J.-F.; Cotelle, N.; Vrielynck, L.; Vezin, H.; Hénichart, J.-P.; Cotelle, P. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2001, *9*, 229–235.
- 186. Seong, M. R.; Song, H. N.; Kim, J. N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 7101–7104.
- 187. Hanna, I.; Michaut, V.; Ricard, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 231–234.
- 188. Kajikawa, S.; Nishino, H.; Kurosawa, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 3351–3354.
- 189. Ding, W.; Pu, J.; Zhang, C. Synthesis 1992, 635-637.
- 190. Harrowven, D. C.; Bradley, M.; Castro, J. L.; Flanagan, S. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 6973–6975.
- 191. Aitken, R. A.; Boeters, C.; Morrison, J. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 2625–2631.
- 192. Sibi, M. P.; Dankwardt, J. W.; Snieckus, V. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 271–273.
- 193. Fu, J.-m.; Snieckus, V. Can. J. Chem. 2000, 78, 905-919.
- 194. Wang, X.; Snieckus, V. Tetrahedron Lett. **1991**, 32, 4879–4882.
- 195. Snieckus, V. Chem. Rev. 1990, 90, 879-933.
- 196. Beak, P.; Snieckus, V. Acc. Chem. Res. 1982, 15, 306-312.
- 197. Khatib, S.; Bouzoubaa, M.; Coudert, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 989–990.

- 198. Clive, D. L. J.; Khodabocus, A.; Vernon, P. G.; Angoh, A. G.; Bordeleau, L.; Middleton, D. S.; Lowe, C.; Kellner, D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 1433–1444.
- 199. Hattori, T.; Takeda, A.; Suzuki, K.; Koike, N.; Koshiishi, E.; Miyano, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 3661–3671.
- 200. de Koning, C. B.; Michael, J. P.; Rousseau, A. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 787–797.
- 201. de Koning, C. B.; Michael, J. P.; Rousseau, A. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 893–896.
- 202. Kim, J. N.; Im, Y. J.; Gong, J. H.; Lee, K. Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 4195–4197.
- 203. Rucker, M.; Brückner, R. Synlett 1997, 1187-1189.
- 204. Martínez, E.; Martínez, L.; Treus, M.; Estévez, J. C.; Estévez, R. J.; Castedo, L. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 6023–6030.
- 205. Saito, T.; Suzuki, T.; Morimoto, M.; Akiyama, C.; Ochiai, T.; Takeuchi, K.; Matsumoto, T.; Suzuki, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 11633–11644.
- 206. Martínez, A.; Estévez, J. C.; Estévez, R. J.; Castedo, L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, 41, 2365–2367.
- 207. Kiselyov, A. S. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 5321-5326.
- 208. Kiselyov, A. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 3053-3056.
- 209. Wang, A.; Zhang, H.; Biehl, E. *Heterocycles* **1998**, *48*, 303–310.
- 210. Makra, F.; Rohloff, J. C.; Muehldorf, A. V.; Link, J. O. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 6815–6818.
- 211. Drochner, D.; Müller, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 211-215.
- 212. Shindo, M.; Sato, Y.; Shishido, K. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 7818–7824.
- Chukhadzhyan, É. O.; Chukhadzhyan, É. O.; Shakhatuni, K. G.; Gevorkyan, N. T. *Chem. Heterocycl. Cmpds* 1998, 34, 912–915.
- Coyle, J. D. *Photochemistry in Organic Synthesis*, Whitstable Litho Ltd: Whitstable, Kent, 1986.
- 215. D'Auria, M.; Ferri, T.; Mauriello, G.; Pesce, A.; Racioppi, R. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 2013–2024.
- 216. Hasegawa, E.; Tamura, Y.; Tosaka, E. *Chem. Commun.* **1997**, 1895–1896.
- Mallory, F. B.; Mallory, C. W. Photocyclization of Stilbenes and Related Molecules. In *Organic Reactions*, Wiley: New York, 1984; Vol. 30, pp 1–456.
- 218. Ho, J.-H.; Ho, T.-I.; Liu, R. S. H. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 409-411.
- 219. Wang, K. K. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 207-222.
- Grissom Wisniewski, J.; Gunawardena, G.; Klingberg, D.; Huang, D. *Tetrahedron* 1996, 52, 6453–6518.
- 221. Ikemoto, C.; Kawano, T.; Ueda, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 5053–5056.
- 222. Choy, N.; Kim, C.-S.; Ballestero, C.; Artigas, L.; Diez, C.; Lichtenberger, F.; Shapiro, J.; Russell, K. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, *41*, 6955–6958.
- Iyoda, M.; Fuchigami, K.; Kusaka, A.; Yoshida, T.; Yoshida, M.; Matsuyama, H.; Kuwatani, Y. *Chem. Lett.* 2000, 860-861.
- 224. König, B.; Pitsch, W.; Klein, M.; Vasold, R.; Prall, M.; Schreiner, P. R. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 1742–1746.
- 225. Bowles, D. M.; Anthony, J. E. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 85-87.
- 226. Bowles, D. M.; Palmer, G. J.; Landis, C. A.; Scott, J. L.; Anthony, J. E. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 3753–3760.
- 227. Lin, C.-F.; Wu, M.-J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4546-4548.
- 228. Braverman, S.; Zafrani, Y.; Gottlieb, H. E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, *41*, 2675–2678.
- 229. Dopico, P. G.; Finn, M. G. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 29-62.

- 230. Tanaka, K.; Takamoto, N.; Tezuka, Y.; Kato, M.; Toda, F. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 3761–3767.
- 231. Li, H.; Zhang, H.-R.; Petersen, J. L.; Wang, K. K. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 6662–6668.
- 232. Padwa, A.; Austin, D. J.; Chiacchio, U.; Kassir, J. M.; Rescifina, A.; Xu, S. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 5923–5926.
- 233. Treus, M.; Estévez, J. C.; Castedo, L.; Estévez, R. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 6351–6353.
- 234. Imamura, K.; Hirayama, D.; Yoshimura, H.; Takimiya, K.; Aso, Y.; Otsubo, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 2789–2792.

Biographical sketch

Charles de Koning obtained his PhD from the University of Cape Town in 1988 under the supervision of Professor RGF Giles. After completing two post-doctorates (MIT, GH Büchi and University of Hawaii, RE Moore) he joined the University of Witwatersrand in 1992. He currently holds the position of associate professor.

Amanda Rousseau completed her PhD in Organic Chemistry in 2000 at the University of the Witwatersrand under the supervision of Professors Charles de Koning and Joseph Michael. Currently she is working at the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research in South Africa.



Willem van Otterlo completed his PhD in Organic Chemistry in 1999 at the University of the Witwatersrand under the supervision of Professors Charles de Koning and Joseph Michael. He then spent two years in the research group of Professor Stephen Hanessian (University of Montreal, Quebec, Canada) as a post-doctoral research fellow before returning to his alma mater as a lecturer in chemistry in 2001.

